LODGE IN THE WILDERNESS

By Paul F. Jamieson


When wilderness was unwanted, the Saranac country was valued at eight cents an acre.  In 1792 New York State sold it at that figure to a speculator, Alexander Macomb, as part of a land deal involving four million acres.  A century later the state bought much of it back.  Today more than half of the shoreline of the three Saranac lakes is state forest preserve.  Summer camps, half hidden under a canopy of evergreen foliage, line the privately-owned shores.


Through the gift of an anonymous donor St. Lawrence University is now the owner of one of these camps.  It is called Camp Canaras – “Saranac” spelled backwards.  It is on the west shore of Upper Saranac Lake seventy miles from Canton in Great Tract #1 of Macomb’s Purchase, Franklin County, Town of Santa Clara, Township 20.  

Then and Now


Like most of the Adirondacks, the Saranac country was slow to enter history.  Pioneers bypassed it in search of more fertile land to the west.  Writing in 1843, a state geologist named Ebenezer Emmons called the Adirondacks a region as little known and explored as the plains of central Africa.  Although Mt. Washington in the White Mountains was climbed in 1642, Mt. Marcy was first ascended, as far as it is known, by Emmons and his party in 1837.  Ponds were still being discovered down to the end of the nineteenth century and promptly named “Lost Pond.”  As late as 1915 henry Abbott, a bushranging jeweler of New York City, claimed discovery of a lost pond on the slopes of the Seward range.  Over sixteen hundred lakes and ponds break the Adirondack forest and two thousand peaks lift it up to better view.  These features that discouraged pioneers have a strong attraction in the age of the paid vacation.


Until Verplanck Colvin’s survey in the last thirty years of the nineteenth century, Indians knew the Adirondacks better than white men.  In 1826 an Indian of a Canadian tribe, in return for $1.50 and tobacco, offered to lead David Henderson to an iron ore deposit south of Indian Pass, where the National Lead Company is now operating a large titanium mine.  Although Indians had no permanent settlements in the Adirondacks, they used the region as a vast hunting ground.  The Mohawks of the Five Nations claimed it, as did the Algonquins of Canada.  After the Iroquois nations had got the upper hand, some Algonquins were reduced to eating the bark and twigs of trees, so the tradition goes, and were scornfully called “Adirondacks,” or tree-eaters,” by their enemies.  Emmons applied this term to the high-peak region, and it was soon extended to the whole uplift of northern New York.


Relics of Indian hunting camps have been found on the plains of North Elba near John Brown’s grave.  But the best-established location of a summer village of Indians is at the southwestern end of Upper Saranac Lake on a boat portage still known as Indian Carry.  Here a tribe of Algonquins fished, hunted, and perhaps planted corn to see them through the fall hunt before withdrawing from the harsh winter.  Jesse Corey, who once had a lodge for tourists and hunters on the old route of Indian Carry through the present Swenson camp, picked up a collection of Indian Pottery and arrowheads which he gave away to this guests.  No relics have been reported in recent years.  But as boys growing up on Indian Carry, Clarence and William Petty, of the State Conservation Department, found two arrowheads on Chapel Island just offshore.  Donaldson tells a story linking the Saranac Indians with a row of tall pines that once stood on the carry.  The trees had grotesque-looking knots in their trunks about seven feet off the ground.  No one could account for the deformities till some traveling Indians whose ancestors had camped on the spot by twisting and tying these trees into knots when the pines were saplings.


The first white settler in what is now the village of Saranac Lake was Jacob Smith Moody, founder of a family of lumbermen and guides.  He came n 1819.  By 1856 the hamlet had grown to fifteen families.  When Dr. Edward L. Trudeau settled there in 1876, Saranac was still a frontier settlement of fifty-of buildings, including two struggling country stores and one prosperous tavern.  His presence, however, soon began to attract other health-seekers, among them Robert Louis Stevenson.  By 1900 Saranac had become a renowned health and tourist center and the metropolis of the Adirondacks.


Jesse Corey was the pioneer on Upper Saranac Lake.  About 1830 he built his first cabin near Wawbeek on the west shore.  Logging operations began at mid-century, and about the same time a trickle of tourists began to come through by boat.  Some of them wrote books about their experiences and enlarged the trickle.  In 1850 Jesse Corey built again, this time on Indian Carry, a more strategic location for taking in philosophers from Boston and Cambridge and “sports” from New York City.  He fed and sheltered them in his Rustic Lodge.  In 1858 ten men from the Boston area and their native guides took shelter under his roof on their way to the first Philosophers’ Camp on Follensby Pond.  Among them were Ralph Waldo Emerson, Louis Agassiz, William J. Stillman, James Russell Lowell, and Judge Ebenezer Hoar, later Grant’s Attorney General.  In a letter to this wife the Judge describes his introduction to wilderness living:  “We took supper and lodging, the latter consisting of the floor of the attic.  It rained all night, the mosquitoes and midges were thick, we did not undress, and this with the boards under us, was a specimen to begin with.”


But the backwoods was soon to learn how to pamper the tenderfoot and keep him coming back.  Virgil Bartlett’s Sportsman’s Home, built in 1855 on a short portage on the outlet known ever since as Bartlett’s Carry, offered better accommodations than Corey’s and drew patrons back year after year.  From this base Dr. W.W. Ely, of Rochester, made the first known ascent of Ampersand in 1872 and blazed the first trail up the mountain; Henry van Dyke, author and Princeton professor, wrote an essay on Bartlett’s and on climbing Ampersand for Harper’s, July 1885; and Dr. J.R. Romeyn of Keeseville, cross between a European prince and the Compleat Angler in his photographs, fished for thirty-four seasons.  Another hotel went up on Sweeney Carry (another route, with Indian Carry, to the Raquette River) and was replaced in 1891 by the Wawbeek, a step forward in comfort and in convenience for matchmaking (see Caroline W. Rockwood’s An Adirondack Romance, 1897) because of the little rustic church on nearby Chapel Island, where boats lined the shore for services and weddings.

It was Saranac Inn, however, that added the luster of fashion to the other attractions of Upper Saranac.  It started as the Prospect House, built about 1864 by a well-to-do patron of Paul Smith’s eight miles north.  It became Saranac Inn in 1886 when a group of men from New York, Albany and Philadelphia incorporated as the Upper Saranac Association and bought not only the hotel but also the entire 26, 880 acres of Township 20.  Dr. Samuel B. Ward of Albany, who owned a cottage two hundred feet from the hotel, was the moving spirit behind the association and its president.  He was a close personal friend of President Cleveland, who vacationed for several seasons in the Ward cottage and started a run of presidents and governors on the inn.  

Saranac Inn was enlarged and improved several times to reach its maximum of five hundred rooms, including forty cottages and lodges.  Unlike most Adirondack hotels, it had a charmed life, never burning down.  The forest fire of 1903 that raged eastward from Tupper Lake stopped just short of the inn.

Some of its patrons hankered for family camps of their own.   Seeking privacy and isolation, they bought ample shorelines for additions to their camps and for buffer zones on each side.  In the early eighties William West Durant set a pattern in camp architecture with his Camp Pine Knot on Raquette Lake, designed by himself.  This combined features of the Adirondack log cabin and the Swiss chalet.  Having found a large pine knot shaped like the hilt of a sword, Durant used it as a decorative theme for his lodge.  Some of the camps on Upper Saranac follow this style, which was adopted and perfected by the Saranac Lake architects W.L. Coulter, William G. Distin, and William H. Scopes.

As families grew in size and guest lists along with them, so did the number of cabins until many camps resembled small villages. Much care went into improving, enlarging, and decorating.  Odd specimens found in the woods and along the beaches served as symbols of main lodges or separate units.  Mounted animal heads lined interior walls whether the owner was a hunter or not.  Stones for the great fireplace were selected with deliberate care.  One owner on Upper Saranac imported clay from England for his tennis courts.  Building materials, supplies, mail and groceries came by boat from Wawbeek or Saranac Inn, whose steamboats plied the waters daily.  Not till 1909 was a road on the west shore extended from Wawbeek to Saranac Inn.

The life of the private camps was the envy of friends and foreign visitors.  Its essence is well caught in Camp Chronicles, the recollections of eighty summers on Upper St. Regis Lake six miles north.  Summing up her feelings, Mildred Phelps Stokes Hooker writes:  “As a child when anything went wrong I would say to myself, ‘Never mind, we’re going to the Adirondacks,’ and just the thought of this place would make me happy again.”

The enlargement of the camps and of the inn itself was a factor in their decline in the last generation or two.  The first strain came with the shortage of help during and after World War I.  Next, the automobile brought a slow but massive change in vacation habits.  The younger generation learned to prefer a mobile vacation to the leisurely two weeks on hotel verandahs or the full summer in camp.  Climbing tax rates, division among heirs, and depression, reduced family fortunes.  An Upper Saranac camp that had cost two hundred thousand dollars sold in 1938 for seventy-five thousand.

After outlasting many large Adirondack hotels, Saranac Inn finally closed its doors in 1962.  In September of that year the main building, the cottages, the remaining undeveloped land, and the eighteen-hole golf course were sold at auction.  The white palace on the point still stands, resisting fire as always, and is a vision of grandeur from the docks at Camp Canaras a mile and a half away.  But nearby the empty shell is oppressive, its paint peeling.  Only the golf course still operates for the public.

The larger camps on the lake are entering a new phase.  Now that the mobile vacation is becoming a bumper-to-bumper affair, people are learning to appreciate again the leisurely summer camp.  Demand for the smaller camps has held up though all social changes and values are still rising.  But the larger ones have passed or are passing from family ownership to philanthropic institutions, boys’ and girls’ organizations, medical foundations, music schools, and colleges.  Colgate and Syracuse own camps on the lake.  The last owner of Camp Canaras was the Sloan-Kettering Institute, which used it as a retreat for specialists in cancer research.  Thus in the big camps a family-centered community is giving way to communities based on shared interests and activities, including educational conference and programs.

Woods, Peaks and Waters

The summer village of the Saranac Indians, the pioneering of Jesse Corey, the hotels and the camps add up to a modest history for the privately-owned shores of Upper Saranac.  But in the Forest Preserve back of this fringe on north, west and south, and on most of the east shore down to the water, there is hardly any history at all – not, at any rate, since the forest fire of 1902, which turned part of this region over to blueberries till the trees came back.  The land purchase of the Upper Saranac Association in 1886 to 1894 New York State enacted the soundest conservation laws in the nation, along with the authority to purchase new lands for the Forest Preserve.  And in 1898 the state repurchased all but about two thousand acres of Township 20.  Other tracts to the east and south were also acquired.

The Forest Preserve is a five-minute walk across the highway from Camp Canaras.  There one enters a different time zone.  It is no longer the linear time in which history is made, but cyclical time.  Man is only a temporary visitor, put on his best behavior, and restrained from making history.  Time and change in the Forest Preserve run in cycles of the day, the seasons, or greater spans of growth and decay up to the three hundred years or more of the life of a white pine till if falls, rots, and makes pulpy humus for seedlings to spring up in and begin the cycle over. 


Several peaks around Upper Saranac give climbers a topside view of this forest and sitters an uplifted one.  Off the northern end of the lake lie the long ridges of St. Regis Mountain, 2873 feet above sea level.  The southern end is bordered, from west to east, by Panther Mountain, a modest 2237; Stony Creek Mountain, 2075; and noble Ampersand, 3352.  On the east shore is Boot Bay Mountain, 2519.  Massive Seward south of Ampersand and many of the high peaks farther to the east can be seen from various places on the three Saranac lakes.  Panther Mountain is a fifteen-minute ramble from Route 3.  But the best views of the Saranac country are from the bald summits of St. Regis and Ampersand.  Both peaks have good trails of dry weather observers keep watch.  From St. Regis the country below seems mostly of water; it is a labyrinth of lakes, islands, densely wooded ridges and swamps.  Larger and nearly as numerous waters can be seen from Ampersand, including perhaps the loveliest of all, mountain-enclosed Ampersand Lake, site of the second Philosphers’ Camp.  The trail can be reached from Camp Canaras either by Route 3 or by a nine-mile paddle through the upper lake, over Bartlett’s Carry, and through Middle Saranac (Round Lake as natives call it) to the lean-to on the southeast shore.


Once all travel in the Saranac country was by boats light enough to be hoisted and carried on the shoulders of one man.  The Adirondack guide-boat, weighing from seventy to a hundred pounds, was designed for this kind of travel.  As long as the guides were Leatherstockings, carrying a ninety-pound boat over connecting trails was a fair day’s work for three dollars and food.  Saranac guides were among the hardiest.  Some of them groaned only once when asked to make the five-mile carry from Middle Saranac over a saddle of Ampersand Mountain and down to Ampersand Lake.  Today travel by water is no longer essential, but many prefer it to all over modes.  The canoe without a guide has replaced the guide-boat.  Fortunately, most carries are less than a half mile and few are over a mile and a half.  Indian Carry can be shortened to little over a mile by using the Stony Creek Ponds as access to the Raquette.


The low ridge of Indian Carry at the southern end of Upper Saranac is a hub of the waterways, connecting the two great drainage systems of the Saranac River and the Raquette.  From there the canoeist can work his way northwest to the St. Lawrence or south to Blue Mountain Lake or Old Forge via the Raquette; or northeast to Lake Champlain via the Saranac.  Or the fifty ponds of Township 20 within a radius of five miles from Camp Canaras may be preferred to the longer routes.  Here the carries are short, the fishing good, the scenery varied.  Most of these routes are described in “Adirondack Canoe Routes,” a circular available at offices of the State Conservation Department.


Upper Saranac Lake itself is eight miles long and shaped roughly like a dumbbell.  From a width of a quarter of a mile at the narrowest it widens at the ends to about two miles.  At the south end it reaches depth over one hundred feet.  Its elevation is 1571.  The fish population consists of lake trout, smallmouth bass, whitefish, northern pike, smelt, perch, and an occasional salmon.  It is one of the best of Adirondack waters for lake trout.  But one must know where to find them, and in summer, when they seek the deep holes at the south end, they are hard to raise.  A give-and-take arrangement exists between the lake and the State Fish Hatchery two miles east of Saranac Inn.  Lake trout breeders are netted between Gilpin Bay and Wawbeek, the eggs taken, and the breeders thrown back in the lake, physically unharmed whatever may be the shock to nervous systems.  The harvest of lake trout eggs from Upper Saranac averages about 600,000 annually.  The higher survival rate in the hatchery than in the lake helps to keep up with the ever-increasing pressure of fishermen.  Upper Saranac and other waters are then stocked with fingerlings from the hatchery.

The Camp


The new St. Lawrence camp is actually two adjoining camps, both originally owned and built by Robert Bentley and his family.  Camp Canaras is the earlier and larger.  It and Camp Ne-Pah-Win grew in area and number of units in typical Adirondack fashion.  Robert Bentley made three separate land purchases from the Upper Saranac Associations between 1913 and 1916 for a total of twenty acres.  The last unit in Camp Ne-Pah-Win, Pine Cottage at the north end, was built in 1930 to the designs of the Saranac architect William Distin.  There are twenty buildings in all.  Living quarters consist of two main lodges and several guest and servant cabins.  Other buildings are a teahouse, a pavilion, two boathouses, a caretaker'’ cottage, two garages, and utility sheds.  There is a tennis court near the highway.


The Bentley family sold the two camps to Laurance S. Rockefeller, who, after enjoying the use of them for several years, gave them to the Sloan-Kettering Institute for Cancer Research.


About one-third of the 1400-foot shoreline is a beach of firm sand.  In the boathouses are an outboard, a sailboat, a paddlewheel or catamaran, aluminum canoes and rowboats.  There is one graceful Adirondack guide-boat in good repair.  This craft should be admired and coveted but not used.  It is a relic of an art of boat-making indigenous to the Adirondacks but no longer practiced – except for an adulterated product of fiberglass – because cedar is no longer obtainable and the craftsmen have all died.  The guide-boat is worthy of becoming the nucleus of a camp museum.


Two hundred years ago the English poet Cowper wished for a “lodge in some vast wilderness, some boundless contiguity of shade,” where rumor of oppression, deceit and war would not reach him.  It is harder to hold news off today, but there is shade in plenty at Camp Canaras.  Previous owners have shown respect for natural woods.  The property is densely wooded with trees of all sizes from saplings to a few of three-foot diameter.  It is a varied conifer stand of red and white pines, spruce, balsam, white cedar, larch, and hemlock.  It closely resembles the Forest Preserve across the highway and on the opposite shore.

________________________

For a rainy day:  Alfred L. Donaldson, A History of the Adirondacks, New York, 1921, 2 vols., reissued in 1963; William Chapman White, Adirondack Country, New York, 1954; Hugh Fosburgh, One Man’s Pleasure, New York, 1960; Adirondack Mountain Club, Guide to Adirondack Trails, 7th ed., Gabriels, N.Y., 1962; Harold K. Hochschild, Life and Leisure in the Adirondack Backwoods, Blue Mountain Lake, N.Y., 1962 (or if available the same author’s Township 34, 1952); Mildred Phelps Stokes Hooker, Camp Chronicles, Blue Mountain Lake, 1964; Paul F. Jamieson, ed., The Adirondack Reader, New York, 1964.
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